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. A hearing in the above-entitied matter was held before Administrative Law Judge (ALJ)
Anne Senter on July 22 - 26, July 29 - August 2, and August 7 - 9, ‘201ﬂf,3atf5‘8pokane,
Washington. The Appellant, Russell Seaton, appeared and was represented by Kevan T.
Montoya, attorney at law. The Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction (OSPI) was
represented by Aileen B. Miller, assistant attorney general. Also present was Catherme Slagle
director of OSPI's Office of Professmnal Practice (OPP).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 19, 2012, OSPI Issued a Final Order of Revocation conceming the
Appellant's Washington State teaching certificate.- On December 10, 2012, the Appellant filed
an appeal of that revocation order pursuant to Washington Adm[mstratwe Code (WAC) 180 86-
150.

On December 17, 2012, the Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) mailed the partles
-a Scheduling Notice assigning Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Matthew D. Wacker and setting
‘a prehearing conférence for January 8, 2013, and an administrafive hearing for February 19,
2013. The prehearing conference was held on January 10, 2013, pursuant to an- Order
Resetting Prehearing Conference. A Prehearing Order was entered January 30, 2013,
continuing the administrative hearing to July 22 - 26 and July 29 - August 2, 2013. A Notice of
Reassignment of ALJ was entered January 30, 2013, reassigning the case to ALJ Anne Senter.

A readiness prehearing conference was held on July 8, 2013, and another prehsaring
conference was held on July 18, 2013. The administrative hearing was held on July 22 - 26,
July 29 - August 2, and August 7 - 9, 2013.

Pursuant to prior order, the parties agreed and were granted time to file post-hearing
briefs. Rather than simultaneous filing of post-hearing briefs, the parties agreed to a schedule
by which OSPl's opening brief would be postmarked by December 16, 2013, followed by the
Appellant’s brief postmarked by January 30, 2014, and then OSP/’s reply brief postmarked by -
February 14, 2014. OS8PI's reply brief was postmarked on February 14, 2014, and was
delivered via U.S. mail to the Office of Administrative Hearings (OAH) on February 18, 2014.

Under the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), ‘chapter 34.05 Revised Code of
Washington (RCW), the final-order.in this matter must be served in writing within ninety days
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after conclusion of the hearing, or after submission of memos, briefs, or proposed findings of
fact. RCW 34.05.461(8). Filing of a document or pleading, including post-hearing briefs, means
delivery of the document to the place. designated by the agency, in this case, the OAH office of
the presiding admlnlstratrve Iaw ;udge (ALJ) RCW 34.05.010(8). '

OSPI's reply brlef was deINered fo the pres:dmg ALJ at her office on February 18 2014,
Ninety days from February 18, 2014, is May 19, 2014, Therefore the due date for the frnal
order in the above matter is May 19, 2014 LN _ _

EVIDENCE'RELIED UPON

Exhibits Admitted:

Jomt Exhlblts J1 J8 Y '
OSPI's Exhlblts 51-82, S4- 831 and 833 845 and L
Appel!ant’s Exhlblts A50 A52 A54 A55 A56 (exceptp 13) A57 A59 A65 and A67—A74

Wltnesses Heard ( in order of apoearance)

Russel} Seaton, Appellant

Student 3°

Student2. : = .. o

Student 2’s Mother '

Student 28’s Mother

- Student 8 ' _

Mother of Students 14 and 25 - S

Abbie Lentz, University High School teacher

Student 5's Mother

Student10 - =

Student 11 : : : oo
Katie-Sarah Phillips, freelance theater seamstress and chi]d_-WrangIer‘,’
Student 26 R e
Student &

Student 15 :

Michael Saccomanno teaoher : e
Kenneth VanSickle, University ngh School aSS|stant prmcrpa]
Student 1

Student 19

Student 20

Student 53

Student 12

Student 6

' The Corrected Order Setting Additional Hearing Dates entered August 12, 2013, incorrectly identified
the due date'as May 15, 2014, based on the mailing date of OSPI’s réply brief.
2 No names of students are used to protect their privacy. The hearlng record contains an identifying list.
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Jay Rowell, Central Valley School Dlstr[ct assistant supenntendent
Student 61. .
Student 25 .
Student 30's Mother
Student 1's Father
Student 2's Stepmother ' '
Daryl Hait, former University High School pnncrpal
Student 7's Mother .
Catherine Slagle OSPI dlrector of professronal practlces _
Briane Green, Unlver5|ty High School teacher
Student 4
Charles Pschirrer, Lewis and Clark High School teacher .,
Elizabeth Moshack, former - University High School student teacher
Student 27 '
Tammy Seaton,Appellant’s wife - oo '
Shelby Hapkins, Washmgton Educatlon Assocnatlon staff lawyer
Student 26's Mother
David Smith, Umversﬁy ngh School teacher
Student 67 . . _ .
Student 30
Student 34
~ Student7 - .-
Charles Seaton, Appeliant s father
Student 3's Father -

'ISSUES '

: As set forth in the Prehearing Order of January 30, 2013, the issues for hearmg are

whether OSPI has established by clear and convincing evidence that the Appellant has violated
RCW 28A.410.090, WAC 181-87-060, WAC 181-87-080, WAC 181-86-013, and/or WAC 181-
86-014, and whether the Appeilants Washmgton Educahon Certmcate No. 374935E should be

revoked
FINDINGS OF FACT

Background o

1. | The Appellant was 30 years old in the fall of 2005 and he tarned 35 in February 2010.
Appellant, Tr. 58-59. The Appellant received his initial teaching certification in 2000 and a
continuing teacher certification in 2004. Exhibits S1, AB9.

2. The Appeliant began teaching at Unlversrty High School (“U-High™) In the Central Valley
School District in 2001, Appellant, Tr. 59. The Appellant taught a number of ch0|r and
music-related classes and was the music director for school musicals.

3.  The Appellant was evaluated by the District each school year from 2001-2002 through
2008-2009. Exhibit A50. In each evaluation, he was found to have met expectations, the
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highest available rating, in every category in which he was evaluated. fd. Every comment in
each evaluation was positive. /d. The following are the comments from his 2008 2009
evaluation, the most recent “long form” evaluation:

Russ is always prepared and pushes his students to perform, He uses a variety of
teaching technigues to reach a wide variety of student learners. Russ is one of .the fop
teachers in the Spokane area and is an outstanding educatorlcholr dlrector

Russ’s specialty is classroom management He is falr and consistent and rarely has any
discipline’ problems. His incredible work™ ethlc IS a g 'at examp!e to everyone in our
building.

Russ is very knowledgeable and uses various teaching’ strategles He is prepared and
professronai Russ teaches a wide range of students in various groups. -

Russ is very easy to work with and has established a great rapport with his, colleagues.
He is open fo recommendations and is willing to try anything to improve his mstructlon
Russ is a great team player that the entire staff looks fo for gmdance and Ieadershlp

Russ is fair and consistent. He sets clear expectatlons and rare[y has any issues Russ'.'
has built a feeling of mutual respect in all of his classes. Heis a veteran teacher that
knows how to handle all types of students,

Russ truly cares about his students and they know it. He is respected by his peers as:
well as the students. Russ is one of our most popular teachers ‘and has bu1]t an
incredible choir program.

Russ's knowledge and pursuit of the essential leaming's [src] is outstanding. He is very
knowiedgeable in his field of Fine Arts/Music.

Russ rs one of our most dependable teachers He works effectlvely with perents and
staff. He follows procedures and has built great relatlons with' staff. Russ is not only a
Ieader in our burldlng but also the entlre Dlstnct '

SUMIVIARY OF EVALUATION: Russ |s an outstandlng teacher that has become an'icon

in our District. He is well respected i our buﬂdlng and in the community as an excellent

teacher/director. He is avaluable asset to our school as he has impacted many students

in a very positive way. His hard work and dedication have made him a leader in our

schoal. Mr. Seaton is an incredible teacher/director that [sic] has built our choir program
" into ane of the best in the state. i

Exhibit A5O, pp. 1— 2. | |

4. . The Appellant was never dlsmplmed by the District. See VanSickle, Tr. 1183-84 (stating
that the other U-High teacher involved in an exchange about an emalil recelved a verbal
warning, but the Appellant did not).

5. The Appellant was counseled, but not dlsmphned about not becoming too involved in
students’ non-academic issues.” Principal Hart, Tr. 1855-56; VanSickle, Tr. 1161-62. An
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example of this is when the Appellant had mentioned to Vice Principal VanSickle that he had
talked to Student 3 about some poor choices she was making outside of school related to a
_party and alcoholf VanSickle, Tr. 1161-62, 1214. Mr. VanSickle told the Appellant to be careful
about getting involved in Student 3's personal life, and asked him 1f her parents were aware of

the de0|510ns she was makmg Van81ckie Tr 1162.

6. A one-page document entltled "Rlsky Practices” was mcluded in a staff handbook the .
school provided to teachers each year beginnmg in 2005 Exhlbit S2; VanSickle testimony,

Tr. 1148. |t stated the following:

Even the appearance of impropriety may significantly damage an educator's
reputation. - The best way for educators to protect themselves from false
. .accusations is to avoid behaviors that could be misconstrued. Following is a list
of recommendations that may prevent both the opportunity for molestatzon and

the llkelihood that mnocent acts could be mlsconstrued

e Do not meet W|th a student alone in your classroom outstde of the regular

school day.
» Do not meet with a student: behmd a c[osed doaor.

o Donot make a habit of meetmg a student out31de of school for a meal cup of

‘coffee; ete.

* ' Be careful about counsellng students in nonacademic matters (If a teacher
‘bétomes aware that a'student is in some kind of trouble, then the student

should: be réferred to & counsslor. or admmlstrator)

e Do not regularly transport students in your own vehicle or allow students to

have access your vehicle. [sic]

e Do not engage students in conversatlons regarding their romantlc or sexual

activities,

e Do not e__ntertam students in_your home unless [t is a school-sponsored

. _actnnty

« Do not make sexual comments, make comments about the students’ bodies,

tell sexual jokes or share sexua]ly oriented matertal with students

!

« Do not touch students in a manner that a reasonable person cou!d interpret

as |nappropr|ate

Exhibit S2. The Appellant received the handbook each year. Appellant, Tr. 61.

7. . The Appellant attended a “safer relationship training” in October 2005. Exhibits $28,
p.13; S33; Appellant, Tr. 73. The training was required by U-High and presented by Jerry
Painter, then an, atforney for the Washington Education Association (WEA). VanSickle
testimony, 1151-52; Appellant, Tr. 73. The training was about relationships with students.

Appellant, Tr. 73, 2967-68.
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8. At the time, the U-High band teacher had recently been investigated by OSPI' regardlng
boundary issues with a student.. Appellant Tr. 74—75 The Appel!ant was interviewed by OSPI
as part of. therr rnvestlgatron Appellant : , .

9. On May 7 2010 the Drstrrct notn‘red the Appellant or h|s unlon representatrve that rt was
investigating a report he had kissed Student 2 on the lips. Appellant Tr. 3243. The Appellant
had already requested and been granted medical leave to begin soon after that through the end
~ of the school year for a family matter.: Exhibit. AB2.: The District allowed him to begin that
medical leave early, rather than be placed on admlnlstratlve leave.: Appetlant Tr. 3289; Rowell,
Tr. 1535.

10. .~ The District conducted an.investigation. of the Appellant regarding at least three
complaints against - him - by -students or -former students, including concems' about . kissing
Student 2, his'behavior with respect.to Student 5 on an overnight cholr irip, and kissing and
“spooning” with a former student, Student 3.~ Rowell, Tr..1535-1559. After. interviewing other
witnesses, the District prepared a list of questions for the Appellant and arranged for him to be
mtervrewed as part of its |nvestrgatlon Rowell Tr. 1559- 62 Tl :

11.  The Appellant and his union representatrve appeared for the mtervrew but the Appellant
elected to resign from the. District rather than- partlorpate Appellant Tr. 3290; Rowell, Tr. 1562,
The Appellant and his wife had previously decided in November 2009 that they would return to
" Western Washington. Appellant, Tr..3243. . The Appellant had announced this to students in
March 2010 and had. already . begun Iooklng l’or work there Appellant Tr. 3243-44. The
Appellant submitted notification of his intent to resrgn as of that day. May 27, 2010, listing the
reason for leaving as. movmg/relocatlon ExhrbrtJ‘l :

12. Because the Appellant. resigned before the Drstrrot concluded lts mvestrgatron of the
complarnts agarnst himn, it did not determine whether to discipline him. Rowell, Tr 1564,

13. On June 3 2010, the’ Drstrrcts superlntendent informed OSPI that sufl" cient reliable
information existed suggesting that the Appellant may have engaged in acts of unprofessional
conduct. Exhibit J3. Following an mvestrgatron OSPI issued an Amended Proposed Order of
Revocation of the Appellant’s teaching ‘certificate dated August 28, 2012. __Exhlbrt J5. The order
concluded that the Appellant’s eduication certificate be revoked. /d. “The Appellant had already
filed an appeat to an earlrer Proposed Order of Revocation. Exhibit J6 e

14, A Final Order of Revocatron was rssued on November 19, 2012. Exhibit J7. It
concluded that OSPI had shown by clear and convincing evidence that the Appeliant had
violated RCW 28A 410,090, WAC 181-87- 060, WAC 181-87-080, WAC 181-86-013, and/or
WAC 181-86- 014, and that his Washlngton Education Cerfificate should be revoked Id. The
Appellant filed & Notlce of Appeal dated December 10, 2012. Exhrblt JB

15.  Thereis no evrde_nce of the Appellant having any criminal history.
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The Appellant’s Credibility

16. - The Appellant has denied that he engaged in conduct alleged by students unti
confronted with evidence to the contrary. One example is the matter of Student 8, a female
student who became intoxicated on a choir irip to Ireland. Another student had called the
Appellant to Student 8's hotel room, where she was-wearing only underpants and a bra or
camlsole presumably because she had vom;ted on her clothlng Appellant Tr 3164~66

17. When lnter\newed by OSPI, the Appellant stated that he was “never in the Toom’® with
Student 8 and that he was “on the door threshold . . . never actually in the room.” Exhibit $26,

p. 40. The Appellant used the opportunity to make changes to his statement and then signed it
under penalty of perjury. Exhibit 526, pp. 84-85. It was not clear from the statement whether
the room the Appellant denied entering was Student 8's hotel room or the bathroom inside her
hotel room, as he stated that Student & was |n the bathroom throwmg up when he get there

Exhibit S26, pp. 39 - 40, ' '

18. At the hearing, witnesses testified to seeing the Appellant phystcal]y assisting Student 8
inside her-hotel room. ~Student 7, Tr. 2866, 2802 (saw Appellant walking Student 8 fo the
bathroom as if a mom helpsng her child); Student 28's Mother, Tr. 369 (Appellant was guiding
Student 8 to the bathroom when she arrived). No witness testified that the Appellant was acting
inappropriately with Student 8 under:the circumstances. Only after these witnesses testified did
the Appellant acknowledge that he had been in the same room as Student 8. ‘Appellant,
Tr. 3166. He then described in detail what he did while he was in the room — guided Student 8
using his right hand on her right elbow and his left hand on her nght shoulder mto the bathroom
and wrapped her in a towel. Appellant, Tr. 3166 -

19. Similarly, when interviewed by OSPI, the Appellant stated that it was not appropnate for
a teacher to kiss ‘a student on the cheek or the forehead. “Exhibit S26, pp.“20-21. He denied
ever kissing a student on the cheek. Exhibit 526, p. 21. With respect to kissing on the
forehead, he identified one time when he gave a student; Student 1, “a quick paternal peck on
her forehead” in a crowded hall in front of her father after a concert. “Exhibit $26, p. 20. ‘He
immediately regretted this and apologized to ‘Student 1's fathér. /d. He told OSPI that it was
‘appropriate for him to have shown paternal support to the student, but he should not have done
so in that manner. :Exhibit $26, p. 21.”-He also identified a time where he was consoling a
student who had lost her parent in a group hug with her boyfriend and- their “foreheads may
have touched.” Exhibit $26, p.20.He did not identify any other instances of kissing a student on
the forehead at that time. As set forth below, he acknowledged a number of other kisses on the
forehead and cheek when presented with the evidence at the hearing. His explanation that he
did not mention these other times when interviewed by OSPI because they were not sexual is
not credible becatise OSPI specifically asked him about kisses on the cheek and forehead, as
opposed to just kisses, and because there is no indication that he believed the one kiss on the
forehead and the one forehead bump he did ldenttfy to OSPI were sexual Exhibit 526, p. 20.

20. Because of this, the Appellant's testlmony s generally not credlble and thls is
considered when the Appellant’s testimony is inconsistent with that of other witnesses and/or
not supported by other evidence.
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Krssmq on the L|ps Students 2 and 4

Fmdmgs regardrng the Appellant S mteractrons wrth Students 2 and 4

21 ThlS section eets forth the ultlmate t' ndlngs of. fact under the clear and convrncmg
e\ndence standard, regarding the Appellant’s conduct with Students 2 and 4 after considering all
the evidence and weighing the credibility of witnesses. The section that follows this one
examines . the contradlctory contenttons .of the- partles and dlscusses why some were found
- more cred[ble than others R e AT : L

22, Student 2 attended U- ngh from the 2007 2008 school year through the 2010-2011
school year. ‘Student 2, Tr. 228, She participated in a-number of U-High choirs and musicals
with the Appellant dunng her freshmar, sophomore, and junior year of high school, which was
the year the Appellant resigned. Student 2, Tr. 228-229. She also took voice lessons from the
Appeltant S wn'e in the|r home. : ‘

23 The relahonshtplbetween Student 2 and the Appellant grew closer over. ttme as she
became more involv my ;department -Student 2, Tr. 231.- Her freshman year, she
and other. students ;fearecl and réspected-him.. ‘Student 2, Tr. 231, By her junior year, the
Appellant and Student 2: were Very close, partly because she was In Lirico, a smatl elite female
choir, and the Appellant was usually close Wlth that group Student 2, Tr 231.: '

24, | In the fall of the Student 2 s _[Ul‘llOl' year ehe was in Sweeney Todd ‘a U ngh mu3|cal for
which the Appellant was the musical director. The Appellant kissed her on the lips twice during
the run of this mustcal Student2 Tr 277 279 80.

25. The t“ rst t|me took place before a perforrnance . Student 2, Tr. 276. Cast members
were in the choir room warming up, and the Appellant pulled Student 2 aside into his office.
Student 2, Tr. 276. The Appellant's office was inside the choir room with unobstructed windows.
Student 2, Tr,-275-76.° The Appellant told Student 2 how proud he was of her, congratulated her
on how far she had come, and told.her how excited he was to go to Germany with her. - Student
2, Tr. 276. Student 2 percerved this as-a pep talk. .Student 2, Tr. 276. - The Appellant and
Student 2 were each sitting in chairs in his office. Student 2, Tr. 277. At the end of the talk,
they both stood up and hugged Student 2, Tr. 278. The. Appellant then took Student 2’s face
between his hands; pulled her towards him, and kissed her on the lips. Student 2, Tr. 278. The
kiss was very brief, two seconds at the most. Student 2, Tr. 278.. The Appellant then pulled the
Student back and agaln congratulated her and satd how proud he was of her. Student 2,Tr.
278. o SR : o

26. - Student 2 clesc_rlbe‘d the kiss as an out-of-body experience; it was difﬁoult to register that
it had really happened. :Sfudent 2, Tr. 278. She determined that the Appeliant did not mean
anything by It and was just being patemal. Student 2, Tr. 278. She considered the kiss to be
congratulatory and encouraging rather than sexual. Student 2, Tr. 279. Student 2 .did not
report the kiss at the time because she did not view it as noteworthy Student 2, Tr. 278-79.

1
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27.  The second Kiss took place later during Sweeney Todd when Student 2 was in the shop
just off the backstage having an emotional and sisterly talk with Student 4. Student 2, Tr. 279.
The Appeliant joined them and told him he was very proud of them. The Appellant then kissed
Student 4 on the lips and then turned and kissed Student 2 on the lips. Student 2, Tr. 279. Like
the first kiss, this was g quick kiss on the lips. Student 2, Tr. 281. Student 2 observed Student 4
when the Appellant kissed her and saw that she did not act like it “was a big deal.” Student 2,
Tr. 279. Student 4’s lack of reaction cemented Student 2's earlier understanding that the kiss
did not mean anything. Student 2, Tr. 279. Student 2 did not report the second kiss at the time
because it just did.not appear to her to be anything that should be reported. Student 2, Tr. 283.

28. Later, in the spring of her junior year, Student 2 told the Appellant that she could not go

on. a scheduled choir trip because she had to study for her advanced placement exams, which -

would take place soon after the trip. Student 2, Tr. 234, 236. The Appellant was not pleased
that she would not be going, and Student 2 and her parents perceived that he was bullying her

about it. Student 2, Tr. 234,235, 283. Student 2's Mother and Father met with a U-High vice

principal to talk about how the Appellant was freating her about not going on the choir trip, They
did not yet know about the kisses when they met with her. They did not feel satisfied by the
meetlng W|th the vice pnnmpal and mtended fo move thelr complamt forward to Pnncnpal Hart.

29, In ‘the meantlme ‘Student 2's Stepmother was concerned about a phone conversatlon
she had with Appellant that had not made sense to her. Student 2's Stepmother, Tr.:1774. The
Appellant said that Student 2’s Stepmother should not believe the things Student 2 said, that he
did not feel comfortable with having Student 2 in his class, and that this was why teachers quit
teaching. - Student 2's Stepmother, Tr.*1770, 1827. Student 2's Stepmother asked Student 2 to
think back about:-othér things that might have happened that would explain the Appellants
statements Student.?s Stepmother Tr 1772 73 e

30. This prompted Student 2 to think about the kisses in the fall and to be concerned that the
Appellant might use them against her somehow, such as by saying she was romantically
involved with him or was alleging he was bullying her in class as part of a jealous rage. Student
2, Tr. 284, 323. She decided that her parents should know about the kisses in case he brought
them up when her parents met with Principal Hart. ‘Student 2, Tr. 285, Student 2 disclosed to
her Stepmother that the Appellant had kissed her twice on the lips during Sweeney Todd, but
told her parents she did not want them to report it or make a big deal out of it. Student 2, Tr. 85;
Student 2's Stepmother, Tr. 1774, 1815; Student 2’s Mother.

31. Student 2's parents wanted to 'repor‘t the kisses to the -administration, but Student 2
believed they were going to respect her request that they not do.so. Student 2, Tr. 286. They

told her that if it came up in the meeting with the administration, they would acknowledge that

they already knew about it, but they would not bring it up themselves. Student 2, Tr. 286.

32 Despite Student 2 asking her parents not to tell U-High administration about the kisses, |

they did so. Student Tr. 286-87. Student 2 was very angry because she knew it would turn into
a “huge mess.” Student 2, Tr. 287
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33.  After Student 2's parents disclosed the kisses to U-High administration, Student 2 and
her parents met with Principal Hart. Student 2, Tr. 298; Hart; Student 2's Stepmother, Tr. 1776.
Pnncxpal Hart descnbed Student 2 as "reluctant” when she told h|m about the kisses. Hart.

34 - Student 2 and her famlly later attended a meetmg wnth Pnnc:lpal Hart as well as Asslstant
Supenntendent Jay Rowell and another: District representatwe Student 2; E)(hlbl’[ 512; Hart.
She reported, among other things, that the Appellant had kissed her twice on-the hps during
Sweeney Todd.. Exhibit 812; - At some. point during this meeting, Student 2 started crying and
said that she did not want to be responsuble for the Appellant losing his job and felt that it would
divide the choir. Student 2's Stepmother Tr 1778

35 Student 4 was mter\newed by the admln:stration and denled that the Appellant had
klssed heror Student2 Hart T T S L TR ,

36. After word got out of her report Student 2 felt ostramzed People accused her of belng a
ligr and of ruining the Appellant's life. Student 2 Tr 288—89 Student 2 Iost fnends over the
SItuatlon Student2 Tr 289 i R R R P T - :

37. A current or former female cho:r student sent E group message through Facebook toa
number of current and former choir.students, stating-that an: unnamed. girl. had accused the
Appellant of klssmg her during a play backstage Exhibit 827, p.1.. She encouraged current and
former choir students to let the :District know that they had never heard, seen, or expenenced
anything of this sort; and that nothing like this would ever happen becauge. the Appellant is a
good man. /d. She noted that this was espeCIally lmportant for.“Lirico girls” because there had
been many allegattons from. other girls. toward  Lirico_girls. because the . other girls do not.
understand how close the Lirico girls were to the Appellant Id. The student sending the
" message noted that “this girl is obviously disturbed” and the sender of the message had learned
that the student who made the report had “a motive. to make a bogus accusation "d :

38. Student4 responded to the group message statlng

._l am makmg an announcement on Monday to all the CthI’S I am mvolved in this

. because she also said that he kissed mé at the same time. Completely untrue.
I've already been interviewed and | said flat out that she is a llar. But yes | am
making the announcement on Monday to everyone, " : ; :

Exhibit 527, p. 2 A male student responded that he hoped the “anonymous girl gets what she
deserves” and . that there: will ~ be. -“no. sympathy.. shown fto .. her” fd.
A female student responded that, hopefully, if enough students speak up it would “show that this
girl is bogus and needs a psychiatric evaluation.” /d, ‘

Credrbmty Fmdmgs
39.  Student 4 reported to Pnnclpal Hart that she had not been k|ssed with Student 2, and

maintained this position when interviewed by Assistant Superintendent Rowell. Hart, Tr. 1895- °
96. When interviewed by OSPI, Student 4 stated that the Appellant had approached Student 2
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and 4 in the scene shop backstage when they were talking, and told them they were going to be
great. Exhibit 89, p. 8. He gave them each a side hug-and left. Exhibit S8, p. 8. Soon after that
statement, the OSPI investigator asked her if the Appellant had ever klssed her during Sweeney
Todd, and she responded that he had “never” kissed her. Exhibit 89, p. 8. At the heanng,
however, Student 4 testified that he had kissed her before a show for Sweeney Todd in the
scene shop with Student 2. Student 4, Tr. 2235-36. Student 4 described that he said some
encouraging words and then gave her a hug on the side and then kissed her on the forehead at
the hairline.” Student 4, Tr, 2237. He then turned to Student 2 and she could not tell if he just
hugged or kissed her on the forehead because she could not see Student 2's head and could
only sée the back of the Appellant's head. Student 4, Tr. 2237. Student 4 also testified that the
Appellant had kissed Student 4 on the forehead another time, during her junior year during the
Taffetas show. Student 4, Tr. 2233. The Appellant had come up to her after the show,
.congratulated her and kissed her on the top of the head Student4 Tr. 2233, -

40. - Student 4 explamed that she had forgotten about the kiss dunng Sweeney Todd when
she talked to the District and OSPI but that her parents reminded her before the hearing that.
" she had told them he kissed her on.the cheek during Sweengy Todd back when Student 2's
parents had called them to talk about whether the Appellant had kissed her. “Student 4, Tr.
2238-39. This is not credible a credible explanation because Student 4's parents had reported
to Student 2's parents that Student 4 had denfed being kissed. Moreover, this was in the same
general time' period that Student 4 was interviewed by the District and when she denied on
Facebook that the Appellant had kissed her. Student 4 additionally explained that when she
was asked by OSPI if the Appellant -had kissed her, she had interpreted the question as
- meaning a romantic, sexual, inappropriate kiss, especially on the lips so she did not consider
the quick kiss on the forehead as applying. Student 4, Tr.-2239. This explanation also is not
credible because OSPI asked Student 4 this question almost immediately she described the
incident with Student 2 in the backstage shop and Student 4 later acknowledged at the hearing
that he had indeed kissed her there. Student 4's credibility is severely compromised by her
previous denials that the Appel]ant klssed her and her &ffi rmatrve statements that Student 2 was

lying.

41, Similarly, the Appellant's credibility is compromised as discussed above related to other
allegations and specifically with respect to his interaction with Students 2 and 4 during Sweeney
Todd. The Appellant denied ever being alone with Students 2 and 4 in the shop. He described
an interaction with Students 2 and 4 that took place before the opening of Sweeney behind the
front curtain. -Appellant, Tr. 106-07. He testified that Student 2 was having a panic attack about
going on and that he held her hands to calm her down. ‘Appellant, Tr. 106-07. And then he
turned fo ‘Student 4, who was nervous because Student 2's role was important to the
producticn, and held her hands as well. fd. He then gave them a group hug. Appellant, Tr.
107. At the beginning of the hearing, he expressly denied kissing either Student 2 or 4 on the
lips, cheek, or forehead. Appellant, Tr. 110-11. Given Student 4's testimony that the Appellant
had kissed her on the cheek during Sweeney Todd as well as another time, the Appellant's
testimony is further compromised.

42. That Student 4 yltimately aoknowledged the Appellant kissed her (aibeit on the cheek)
when she was in the backstage shop with Student 2 demonstrates that Student 2 and Student
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2's stepmother did not concoct a story a story that he kissed the girls. Additionally, although
Student 2 was. frustrated with the Appellant because the choir trip.to Germany was cancelled
and because of the way he was treating her for not going on the spring choir rip, her reluctance
to report the kisses further demonstrates that she was net motrvated by revenge and was the
more credlb!e wrtness Student2 Tr. 306 : .

43 Student o's reportmg of the two krsses on the Irps as well as the mrcumstances of those
kisses was consistent from when she first reported to her, stepmother through her reporting to
the District, her interview. with. OSPI, and her testlmony at hearing. And the-ALJ has not
Identified any allegatlons made by Student 2in thls case that are dlrectly d[sputed by credlble
wztnesses o o T : . _

44. The Appellant argues that Student 2 prewously made a “false report” about Elizabeth
Mossback, a student teacher for the Appellant during the fall of Student 2's junior year.
Ms. Mosshack tesfified that Student 2 overheard a private conversation between Ms. Mossback
and another:student, had. "mlsread" things: Ms. Mossback sald; and reported. to the. Appellant
that Ms. Mossback had been, mean to the. other student,.- Mossback, Tr. 2376. Ms. Mossback
could not remember the specrt" ics; but’ percelved that. Student 2 had twisted her werds “although
she also acknowledged that she should have-held her conversation with the other student in'a
more. pnvate place so “Student 2 could not have “m nterpreted” what she had said. Mossback .
Tr. 2379. ‘Without further: details about what. Student 2 said, and with' Ms: Mossback testifying
both that Student 2 misheard and mrsmterpreted and-that Student 2 “twisted”. Ms. Mossback’s
words, it cannot be determmed that Student 2 made a false report agarnst Ms. Mossback.

45. The Appellant also argues that Student 2 told ether students that she l|ed about the
krsses and that students overheard Student 2 teIllng others she lied. . Students 30 and 67 both
testified to overhearing conversations in which they believed Student 2. -acknowledged she lied
in accusing the Appellant: Student 30 festified that she overheard Student 2 talking to
someone, perhaps Student 27, on the risers and telling that person that she was lying and had
felt pressured by her parents. Student 30, Tr. 2787. Student 67 testified that she heard Student
2 talking to someone, possibly Student 27, and that she told her the kissing was not true, she
felt terrible, and she did not kriow that all this would happen, meaning the Appeliant taking a
leave and going under scrutiny with his license.: Student 67, Tr. 2729, 2735-36.. When asked if
Student-2 actually said’ something about the Appellant's lrcense Student 67 sard no, but that
Student 2 did not know that the schoo! board would take her accusations so far. Student 67, Tr.
2736. This demnonstrates how, when mdmduals overhear parts of conversations, they may filt in
the detalls with their own understanding or what they surmise the conversation might be about.
It is quite possible that witnesses heard Student 2 state that she felt bad about what had
happened or that she had felt pressured to report the conduct by her parents, and assumed this
meant she had lied about the centent of the report. For this reason, this testimony is given little
weight.

46. The Appellant argues that Student 27, who was Student 2's best friend in high school,
said that Student 2 lied about the kiss. Student 27 testified that Student 2 told her the Appefiant
tried to kiss Student 2 on the cheek, it was an awkward “head turn thing,” and it "ended up as a-
kiss on the lips.” Student 27, Tr. 2445. Student 27 acknowledged that she did not remember
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specifically what Student 2 sald and that she could have told her something different. Student
27, Tr. 2445, She also testified that Student 2-told her that it was not creepy, but rather fatherly
and that he did not mean anything by it, Student 27, Tr. 2445-46. Student 27 also testified that
Student 2 told her that she did not want to report it but that her mom wanted her to. Student 27,
Tr. 2446, Student 27 expressly testified that she did not believe Student 2 was lying about the
kiss, “not then, not now,” but that Student. 2 had not told Student 27 the whole truth. Student 27,
Tr. 3423.

47.  Student 30 testified that Student 2 told her in their chemistry class that the Appeltant had
kissed her on the cheek. She testified that Student 2 had looked really upset and she had
asked her if she was-okay and she whispered that a teacher had kissed her on the cheek.
Student 30, Tr. 2786. Student 30 asked her whether it was the Appellant, and Student-2
responded that it was. - Student 30. Student 30 testified that she had previously fold the
assistant attorney general (AAG) representing OSP] that Student 2 told her the Appellant had
kissed her on the'lips and then inexplicably disavowed that statement, saying that she had told
the AAG ‘that Student 2 had said the cheek., Student 30. Student 2 denied having this
conversation with Student 30, who was not a close friend. Student 2. Given the pressure
Student 2 was under from other students for making the allegation against the Appellant, it is
not logical that she would admit facts contrary to what she had reported to the District to
someonhe who was not a close fnend espemal]y when she had not made complete dlsclosures

to her best fnend Student 27. R : :

48. Slmllarly, Student 53 testzﬂed that Student 2 told her dunng class that Student 2's mother
was upset that the Appellant had kissed her on the cheek after a performance, although she
acknowledged that she did not recall specifics of the conversation. "Student 53, Tr. 1358-59,
1361-1362. Student 53 and Student 2 were “close,” but “not great friends.” - Student 53, Tr.
1362. As with Student 30, it is not likely that Student 2 would admit facts contrary to what she
had reported to the District o someone who was not a close friend. Accordingly, the testimony
of Students 30 and 53 is not determlned fo negatlvety lmpact Student 2's credlblllty

49, Student 2 was not asked at the hearing on what days of Sweeney Todd the klsses took
place, The District's notes from her interview state that she reported that the first kiss was the
“night before opemng” of Sweeney Todd, and her sworn statement to OSPI states that she
“Ithought] it was opening night.” Exhlblts 812, p. 1; 813, p. 13. Briane Greene, the U-High
drama teacher, testified that, on Sweeney Todd’s opening night, she had iocked the door to the
Appellant’s office, and that she had séen the Appellant talk to Students 2 and 4 together in his
classroom when Student 2 was very nervous about going onstage. Green, Tr. 2010-11.
Because it is not clear that the night that the Appellant kissed Student 2 in the office was
opening night, the office being locked that night does not mean that the Appe]lant did not Kiss
Student 2 there. And-since Student 4 confirms that the Appellant kissed her when she was
talking with Student 2 in the shop, Ms. Green seeing the Appellant interacting with them in the
classroom without klssxng them does not demonstrate that he dld not kiss them

50. Because of Student 2's reluctance to come forward against the Appellant, her consistent
reporting of the events to her family, the District, OSPI, and at the hearing, Student 4's
acknowledgement that she was kissed (albeit on the forehead) in the backstage shop and that
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Student 4 could not see whether Student 2 was kissed contrary. to her prior denials that either of
them had been kissed, and Student 2's demeanor, it is determined that Student 2 is’ the most
credrble W|tness wrth respect to her reports of bemg krssed on the Irps twice by the Appellant

Krsstnq on the Lrps and "Spoonlnq” Student 3

Fmdmgs regardrng the Appeﬂant S mteractfons wrth Student 3

51 ~This section. sets forth the ul'trmate fi ndmgs of fact ‘under - the clear and convrncmg
eviderice and werghmg the: credrbrlxty of wrtnesses :The: sectron thiat follows this’ one examines
the contradrctory contentrons of the partles and drscusses why some were found more credible
than others. - : N L o

52 Student 3 attended U ngh from 2003 to 2007 and graduated before Student 2 was a
freshman .Student-3, Tr.. 116; Student 2 Tr. 256.. .She was in choir with.the Appeliant each
year in high ‘school, partrcrpatmg ina number of U- H:gh ch0|rs Student 3; Tr.116-117, 119.
Shie also took: Music Theory from: the Appellant ‘was his teachmg assrstant -and partrmpated in
two U- Hrgh mustcals for which’ he .was the music director, ' Student 3, Tr. 117—11 9. Her junior
year, Student 3* played - Belle .in Beauty and . the Beast at-ihe" Spokane Chlldrens Theater.
Appellant 3, Tr. 118. The Appellant drrectect this performance and cast her as the lead.
Appellant, Tr. 3049. The Appellant also took voice Iessons from the Appellant’s wife in their
home. - , S L ‘

53. Dunng the trme that Student 3 was at U- ngh she and the Appellant became
progressively closer. While. their relationship her freshman year was “normal” and “teacher-
student professional,” by her sophomore year the Appellant felt “like a close friend” to her.
Student 3, Tr. 119—120 e : o .

54. During Student 3's jumor year the Appellant "krcked” Student 3 out of class because she
did not acknowledge the new computer lab he had added to the classroom. Student 3, Tr. 123,
Later that day, the Appellant apalogized to her in his office for asking her to'leave the class.
Student 3, Tr.123. He explained that her opinion mattered a lot to him and that it had upset him
when she did not appreciate the work he did. Student 3, Tr. 158-59.- While he was apologizing,
he held one of Student 3's hands befween his two, hands told her he wished he was a 20-year-
‘old in Spokane and not her teacher, that he really loved and cared about her, and that, when
she walked into the room, it lit up for him. Student 3, Tr. 121-22, 159. He then said something
to the effect of, “Don’t get me wrong | love my wife; but . . s Student 3, Tr 122

- b5, Student 3 played Belle in Beauty and the Beast durmg the spnng of her Junror year.
Student 3, Tr. 124. Before one of the productions, the Appellant kissed Student 3 in the
greenroom, the area where actors wait backstage. Student 3, Tr. 125. The other actors had left
the room when places were called, but the two of them stayed in the greenroom talking.
Student 3, Tr. 125, As their conversation ended, the Appeliant placed his hands on either side
of Student 3's face and kissed her very bneﬂy on the lips. Id. After the kiss, the Appeliant said,
“That's so I never have to think about it again,” and left the room. fd. Student 3 took her place
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to go on stage, and the Appellant came over-to make sure that she was all right with the kiss.
fd. Student 3 sald she was fine and brushed it off. /d.

56.- The Appellant also kissed Student 3 on the cheek a “handful” of times, usually befare or
after concerts. Student 3, Tr. 126. And he held her hand during a Harry Potter-movie that the
Appellant had gone to with Student 3 and Student 16, who was a male friend of Student 3,.one .
day after school during Student 3's junior year. Student 3, Tr. 131, The Appellant and Student
3 exchanged backrubs on the bus on choir tnps ‘Student 3, Tr 191.

57. Follow:ng Student 3 S junior year durlng the summer of 2006 the Appellant took a group
of current and former U- -High choir studenis to.lreland to perform. Student 3, Tr. 134, The trip
was not sponsored by the school. ‘On one of the legs of the flight to Ireland, the Appellant sat by
Student 3-on the plane, allowed her to sleep with her head against his shoulder and held her
hand underneath a blanket they were shanng Student 3, Tr. 131-32 135 36 :

58. On the first day the group arrived in ]reland Student 3 took a nap in her hotel room
between arriving at the hotel and dinner, Student 3, Tr. 136. She was alone in the room and
had propped the 'door-open so her roommate, Stucient 7, could get back in. Student 3. She
was sleeping on Her-bed on top of the covers, wearing jeans and a sweatshirt. ‘Tr. 136-37. She
had taken Benadryl earlier in the day to help her sleep on the long bus-ride from the airport. Tr.
- 137.

59.- She woke up and became. aware that the Appellant was lying behind her in-the
“spooning” position. Student 3, Tr, 137-38. She knew it was the Appellant because she could
see his hand and she recognized his cologne. Student 3, Tr. 137. Rather than confronting him,
she went back to sleep. Tr. 138, :She did not know how long he was in the room, but she
- opened her eyes when he left and saw him leave the room. Student 3, Tr 138

60.  Meanwhile, Student 7 had returned to the room whlle the Appellant was there. She
walked in and saw Student 3 and the Appelfant on the bed together in the. “spooning™ position,
‘with the Appellant lying behind Student 3 and both of them facing the door. - Student 7, Tr. 2858,
2857. She left the room quickly and waited outside the door. Student 7, Tr. 2859 She saw the
Appellant leave the room shortly after she dld Student 7, Tr. 2859

61. - Student TTconfronted Student 3 abeut what she had seen and told her that Student 7 s
mother, who was & chaperone on the trip, had seen them together on the plane and wondered if
there was something inappropriate between them. Student 3, Tr. 138. Student 3 was
embarrassed because she had let the Appellant stay on the bed with her and just went back to
steep without confronting him. Exhibit S44. Student 3 was crying and vrsrbly upset durlng this
~ conversation. Student 7, Tr. 2859,

62.  Atsome point later in the day, Michael Saccomanno, Student 3, and Student 7 were all
in Student 3 and 7's hotel room.  Student 3, Tr. 140. Mr. Saccomanno is-a friend of the
Appellant, and considers the Appellant to be his mentor. Saccomanno, Tr. 1122-23. At the time
of the hearing he was a high school music and leadership teacher. ‘Saccomanno, Tr. 1122. At
the time of the Ireland trip, he was a student teacher. The Appellant invited him on the Ireland
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trip because the Appellant’'s wife was pregnant and would not be able to make the trip as they
had planned. Saccomanno, Tr. 1126. _

63.  Student 3 was talking about her concerns about her relationship with- the Appellant,
whether. they were too close, and whether that'was safe or appropriate. Student 3, Tr. 140;
Saccomanno, Tr. 1129. The Appellant heard them talking from, the hallway.and entered the
room. Student 3, Tr. 140; Saccomanno, Tr. 1128. The Appellant was agitated : and his tone was
a mix of anger, frustration, and fear. Saccomanno, Tr.-1130.. Thé Appeliant used a raised
voice. Student 3, Tr. 140; Saccomanno, Tr. 1132. The Appellant said that Student 3 should talk
to him if she had & concern. -Saccomanno, Tr. 1130-31, Student 3 was upset by the Appellant
entermg the reom; and confrontrng her Saccomanno Tr 1131. e

64. Student 75 Mother was a chaperone on the lreland tnp Wh|1e they were in lreland,”

Student 7 told her miother about seeing the Appellant and Student 3 on the bed together.
Student 7, Tr. 2862; Student 7’s Mother. Student 7 did this so Student 3 would have an adult to
talk to about the sutuatron rf she wrshed Student? Tr. 2862 -

65 Prior to the [reland trrp, Student 3 hact “felt fi ne" about the physrcal contact wnth the -

Appellant because he felt-like her friend. Stiident 3,-Tr. 141. - After, learnlng that Student 7's
mother had raised questlons she was embarrassed aboutit. Student 3, Tr.: A4

66.  Student 3 confronted the Appellant on the frip about their becoming too close. The
Appellant told her that he had never gotien as close wrth a student as he had wrth her, and that
he would not let it happen agatn ‘Student 3, Tr 142; :

67'; Student 3 drd not report the Appellant’s physrcal conduct wrth her while she was in high
school because she did not think it was “that big of a déal,” and because she thought they had a
“special frlendsh|p ! StudentS Tr 145.

68. Student 3 stayed in touch with the Appellant after graduat!on and sought his advice
about audltlons Students Tr. 172 : R S :

69. Student 3 reported the Appellant’s conduct only after learnmg that current students were
asking alumni to come forward to support the Appellant against allegations that he had kissed a
student backstage at a play. Student 3, Tr. 145. Because the same thing had happened to her,
she did not feel it was right not to come forward if the Appellant’s behavior was still ongoing.
Student 3, Tr. 146. She did not want the Appellant to get in frouble.. Student 3, Tr. 218. She

wanted to call the school anonymously, “just to say maybe you should isten to this girl,” but had -

to identify herseif. Student 3, Tr. 146. Stuclent 3 did not know the |dent1ty of the other girl who
had been kissed backstage. Student 3, Tr. 146.

70.  Student 3 was interviewed by OSPI as part of ifs investigation of the Appellant, but

declined to sign her statement. Student 3, Tr. 144-45. She felt conflicted because the things in
the statement were true, but she did not want anything negative to happen to ihe Appellant
because of them.; Student 3, Tr. 145. She was upset about the situation and did not want to be
mvolved Student 3, Tr. 145. :

P
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Cre drbrlrty Fin dmgs

71. There is no evidence to support the Appellant's contentlon that Students 3 and 7
fabricated the spooning and kissing allegations after-they heard of students rallying to support
the Appellant after another girl accused him of kissing her. - It is reasonable that they would feel
responsible to come forward when they Jearned that the Appellant.continued to engage in the
inappropriate behavior such as that Student 3 experienced. That they spoke 'to each other to
decide whether they would come forward does not prove that they fabricated the allegations.
That they had concerns about the Appellant’s behavior before this time is supported by Student
7's Mother’s testimony that Student 7 told her about seeing the Appellant on the bed with
Student 3 while they were in:lreland, and' Mr. Saccomanno’s testimony about Student 3 -
expressrng concerns about belng too close to the Appellant when they were in Ireland -

72 Slmnarly, W|th respect to whether Student 3 fabrrcated her account of the klss -and
spoonrng only-because she talked to Student 2, the record does not support a finding that they
knew each other or communicated. Student 2 knew of Student 3 because the Appellant talked
about what a great musician she was, and told Student 2 she reminded him of Student 3.
Student 2, Tr. 256.But Student 2 did -not know Student 3 personally. ~Student 2, Tr. 256.
Student 3 denied knowing.Student 2, althotugh she had reported to ‘OSPI that her name
sounded -familiar: - Student -3; Ex.*S26. «."The notes -from Assistant Superintendent Rowell's
interview of Student 3, which were not verbatim, stated that Student 3 had learned of the new
allegations against the Appellant in a phone call from a student who had gone through

something similarto what she had experienced. Exhibit S26, p. 6. ‘Because no one questioned

Student 3 -about whether this is what she reported to Mr.-Rowell or who the ‘student was, and
the two women denied knowing each other, this statement alone does not support a fi ndmg that
Student 3 spoke with Student 2 and fabricated a story.” Moreover, as discussed above, Student
" 7's reporting to her mother on the Ireland trip that she saw the Appellant on the ‘bed with
Student 3 and Student 3 raising conceins about her relationship with the Appellant in front of
Mr. -Saccomanno on the lreland tnp, support that the- concerns existed before Student 2 made -
her report. .

73. - With respect to the motivation of Students 3 and 7, it is not credible that they would
involve themselves in complaints against the Appellant, years after they graduated, simply
because he had reported them for going to a party with alcohol in high school. Nor is it credible
that Student 3 would ‘have asked- Student 7 to JOlﬂ her in thls endeavor because she felt
rebuffed by the Appellant in hrgh school

74. The Appellant argues that Student 7’s testlmony is inconsistent with.what she originally
reported to Vice Principal VanSickle at U-High. Mr. VanSickle testified at the hearing that
Student 7 told him that Student 3 'had been crying and the Appellant lay down beside Student 3
to comfort her while she was in her underwear.” VanSickle, Tr. 1228. “He testified that he could
not recall whether Student 7 told him that Student 7 or Student -7's Mother observed the
Appellant on the bed with Student 3. VanSickle, Tr. 1229-1230. ‘Student 7 made her report to
Mr. VanSickle long before the hearing. Mr. VanSickle did not take notes of the conversation
because he knew he would be forwarding the matter to Assistant Superintendent Rowell to
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interview her. Mr. VanSickle’s memory of the general nature of the conduct Student 7 reported
— the Appellant Iy;ng on the bed with Student 3 — is consistent with Student 7°s testimony. That
his memory of thé details reported to him that Student 3 was in her underwear rather than fully
clothed and that the Appellant was comforting her-when :she was crying - is different than
Student 7’s testimony does riot support a finding that Student 7's: test:mony was not credible.
Nor does Mr.-VanSickle’s failure to remember whether it-was Student:7 or her mother who
observed this behawor somehow demonstrate that Student 7 dld not report to h1m that she saw

75 . Soon after Student 7 made her report to Mr VanS|ckte she was . mterwewed by
Assistant Superintendent Rowell and District émployee Sue Brown. The notes of that interview,

which are not verbatim, state. that Student 7 reported seelng ‘the Appellant in the room with
Student 3 but do not state what Studént 3 was wearing or what they wére. doing in the room
when she saw them, and Mr. Rowell apparently did not question Student 7 on these points.

Exhibit $10, p. 1: “The notes also state that Student 3 told Student 7-that:she had been sleeping
and was shocked to find the Appellant Iying nextto her- holdmg her. Id.. The notes include the
central statements that: Student 7 saw, Student 3 and thé:Appellant.in.the.room ‘and that.the
Appe!lant was lytng fiext to"Student 3 and ho!dmg her: That Mr.- Rowelt failed fo_ask or record
‘whether Studeft'7: actuatly saw.the. Appe!tant on the bed. with Student 3 does not demonstrate
that Student 7’s téstiniony at hearlng was not credible. Nor does- Student 7’s purported report fo -
Mr. Rowell that:Student 3 was crying: when'she entered the room make this report so different
from Student 7's hearrng testlmony as to negatlvety :mpact her credlbillty 810 p 1. -

76. Wlth respect to, Student 3’3 descriptton of events over tlme there was a change Prior to
being deposed by the Appeliant’s attorney, she had never claimed that she saw the Appellant in
the hotel room on the bed-with het. -Rather, in her. deposmon she exptalned that “maybe .
someone was behind me, but I'was half asleep.” Exhibit S44, p. 54.  She went on to say that
“she honestly wasn't-sure if it was real” and that she found out that it was real- because Student
7 told her that was what she saw.:. Exhibit S44, p. 54.  This deposition testimony is consistent
with the information she provided in her OSPI interview, in which she said she knew it was the
Appellant in the bed behind her, although she did not see him. Exhibit S5, p 7.

77. - liwas only at the end of her deposmon that she testified she opened her eyes when she
woke up. Exhibit $44, p. 94.. And it was_only then that she remembered that, when the
Appeliant left the room, she’ remembered opening her eyes and seeing him exit. Exhibit $44, p.
95. She acknowledged this was the first time she remembered seeing him exit. S44, p. 96.
_Prior to that time, she had been relying on Student 7's felling her she had seen him-in the bed
with her to know he was really there. S44, p. 54-55.  She explained that she had only been
- testifying to things she was very sure of and it was only after spending a lot of time thinking
about it on-the day of the deposmon that she felt sure that she had seen, as opposed to only
felt, the Appellant in the room with her. While this change in testimony is unusual, what Student
3 reported séeing was consistent with what Student 3 had explained had happened all along
and with what Student 7 had reported generally to the Disfrict and more specifically to OSPI.
Accordingly, this change in position does not significantly affect Student 3's credibility.
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They interacted as if Student 3 considered him as a friend more than a teacher. Saccomanno,
Tr. 1125, And the Appellant did not seem uncomfortable around Student 3. Saccomanno, Tr.
1126. 'Additionally, -Btudent 16 testified and the Appellant acknowledged that he had gone‘to a
Harry Potter movie with Students 3 and 16 during Student 3's junior year. Appellant, Tr. 3062,
3064. A teacher attempting to distance himself from a student he perceived was gettrng too
close would not vt‘nsely sit by her at a movie outside of and unrelated to school. Thus, it is not
found that the Appellant attempted to distance himself from Student 3 because he perceived
that she was. becomrng too attached to hrm or had a orush on h|m :

82. . Slmllarly the Appellant testifled that he |n|ttated a conversatron with Student 3 in Ireland
about her behavior toward him. Again, Mr. Saccomanno’s testimony that Student 3 raised this
issue on the first day in Ireland discredit's the Appellant’s testimony, further eroding the
Appeliant's credibility. - ‘

83. - The Appellant argues that there was no time for him to have been in Student 3's room .
on the first day In Ireland. The bus arrived at the hotel between 1:00 and 1:30 p.m. Appeliant,
Tr. 3089. The group had to wait some time for their rooms.fo be available, but the Appellant's
room was ready so he took his luggage to his room. -Appellant, Tr. 3089. - Student 33 went to
his room with him at that time and had a conversation about feeling homesick that lasted a few
moments. - Appellant, Tr. -3089-80. - -The Appellant and -his father.walked to a pub at
approximately 4:00 and returned to the hotel between 5:00 and 5:15 p.m. Appellant, Tr, 3095; C
Seaton, Tr. 2929. Because the only specific event that the Appellant described between 1:00 or
1:30 when they arrived at the hotel and approximately 4:00 p.m. when the Appellant and his

. father went to the:pub was a conversation with Student 33 lasting just a few minutes, there was
adequate trme for the Appellant fo enter Student 3's room whlle she was napplng

84. OSPI has not met is burden of provrng that. the Appellant’s conduct toward Student 3
was the cause of her wathdrawal and changes in behavror and groommg dunng her senior year

Krssmq on Foreheads And Cheeks

85. The Appellant admits krssmg students on the cheek on “rare occasrons and on the
forehead possibly five to ten times.” Appeliant, Tr. 83 ~ 84. : : :

86.  As one example, he recalled a student running up to hug him after a concert and he
gave the student “inadvertently just a quick peck on the top of_ the head.” Appellant, Tr. 2955.

87.  Student 6 testified that the Appellant had kissed him on the head. Student 6, After
hearing that testimony, the Appellant acknowledged-that he recalled that kiss, which he stated
took place when Student 6 was having a very difficult time at home and was crying in his office.
Appellant, Tr. 2956. The student “leaned in” and the Appellant “just [gave] him a little kiss on
the top of the head purely for comfort’ and said, "Hang |n there. I'm here for you. o Appellant Tr. -
2956. . '

88.  As discussed above, Student 4, who had been a staunch supporter of the Appellant and
had previously adamantly denied that he had kissed her, testified at the hearing that he had
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78.  Nordoes Student 3's testimony of actions that were more specific than those reported to
OSPI significantly affect her credibility. Although Student 3 did not expressly report to OSPI that
the Appellant held:her hand-on the plane to Ireland-and in a movie, she did report that the
Appellant was “kind of totichy with students on the plane” to Ireland and that he would “share a
blanket, closely sitting” with students on the plane. Exhibit S5, p6-7. She also reported that the
Appellant held hands with students and that this happened because the Appellant felt like one of
our friends “when we were all hanging out.” Exhibit 85,'p. 11. Student 3 reported to OSP! that
the Appellant had only kissed her “that one time." Exhibit S5, p. 8. When she had previously
explained the kiss during Beauty and the Beast, the OSPI investigator had asked her if the kiss
was on the lips.- ‘Exhibit S5, p. 5.- That she did not think, without be:ng asked fo 1nc|ude kisses
on the cheek does not sngnlf' cantly affect her credlblllty R

79 A dlscrepancy between Student 3 and Student 7s test|mony exists w1th respect to
whether Student 3 told Student 7 that the Appellant had kissed her in Ireland. Student 3 only
testified that the: Appellant kissed her during Beauty and the Beast, but. Student 7 testified that
Student 3 told her when she came into the room after the Appellant [eft that he had kissed her in
Ireland. Because Student 3 was upset when confronted by Student 7 about the Appellant baing
in her room ‘and -upon leaming that. Studerit 7's Mother had asked if something inappropriate
was going -on, it is’ possible that Stuident 7 -misunderstood, or by the time of the hearing,
m|sremembered whether the Appellant had kissed Student 3 in Ireland or before that trip. For
that reason, this’ dlscrepancy m testimony does not sxgnn” cantly affect the credlbllity of elther
StudentSor StudentT : -

80. - The Appellant stated that he knocked on Student Bs door when he was mak:ng the
rounds to let everyone know it was time for dinner. Appellant, Tr. 3095. The door was propped
open and he heard his name and a little bit of a raised voice. Appellant, Tr. 3095-96. He
testified that he opened the door after someone said “come in;” and then asked what was going
on, is everything ok? Appellant, Tr. 3096. - Student 3, Student 7, and Mr.-Saccomanno were in
the room. Appellant, Tr. 3097. There was no discussion while the Appellant was there of what
they had been talking about, only a minute of small talk, and then he left the room. ‘Appeliant,
Tr. 3097. This testimony is controverted by that of Mr. Saccomanno, a witness who is both a
teacher and a friénd of the Appellant, that there was a heated .conversation about Student 3's
concerns about her relatlonshlp with the Appellant This further erodes the Appellant’s
credibility. '

81. 'The Appellant contends that, during Student 3's junior year, she was spending a lot of
extra time in his classroom such as doing her homework in the computer lab, and he started to
distance himself from her because he questioned her motives. Appellant, Tr, 3048. He testified
that he told Principal Hart, during that year, that he was uncomfortable with Student 3 spending
so much time in his classroom, and that Principal Hart's response was not to worry about it.
Appellant, Tr. 87-88. Principal Hart does riot recall a conversation with the. Appellant about
female students having crushes on him, although he acknowledged that they "may have” talked
about that. Hart, Tr. 1856-57. The Appellant’s allegation that he was distancing himself from
the Appellant is not supported by the testimony of those around them in that time period. Mr.
Saccomanno, who worked on Beauty and Beast with both the Appellant and Student 3,
observed that “they obviously had a comfortable relationship together.” Saccomanno, Tr. 1124,
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kissed her twice on the head. The Appellant denied any memory of those kisses, even after her
: testimony Appellant, Tr. 2855-56. It is found that the Appellant kissed Student 4 on the cheek
in relation to a Taffetas performance. As explained above, it is found that he kissed her on the
lips, rather than the cheek, during Beauty and the Beast.

89.  As found above, he also kissed Student 3 on the cheek several times.-

Other Allegations

90.  OSP! relies on a number of other allegations, including holding or clasping students’
hands, linking arms with student, hugging students, exchanging back rubs with students, resting
heads on should, using familiar descriptors, insubordination, angry outbursts, and inappropriate
comments to students. Because of the serious nature of the fmdlngs found above these less
serious allegatlons are notaddressed B S :

Generallv Recoqnlzed Professmnal Standards

o1. All WItnesses lncludlng the Appellant agreed that it is never appropnate for a teacher to

spoon on-a bed with a student.

92. Similarly all witnesses, Including the Appellant agreed that it is never appropriate for a -

teacher to kiss a student on the lips (except, possibly, if the student was the teachers own child
or if they were in a play together under appropnate crroumstances ‘

93. Three very experlenced educatlonal admlnlstrators testlf' ed that it is not appropnate for a
teacher to kiss a student on the cheek or the forehead. Hart, Tr. 1861; Rowell, Tr. 1522;
VanSickle, Tr. X. Similarly, the :Appellant acknowledged that it is never appropnate for a
teacher to kiss a student on the cheek or the forehead -‘Appellant, Tr. 82 ‘ :

94, Accordingly, it is found that generally recognlzed professional standards prohibit a
teacher from spooning with a student on a bed and from kissing a student on the lips, cheek, or
forehead.

CONGLUSIONS OF LAW

Jurisdiction and Burden of Proof

1. The Washlngton Professronal Eduoator Standards Board has the authonty to develop
rules determining eligibility for and certification of personnel employed in the common schools of
Washington pursuant to Revised Code of Washington (RCW) 28A.410.010(1). OSPI
administers these rules and has the authority to issue and revoke teaching certificates. - RCW
28A.410.010(2). OSPI may delegate to OAH the authority to hear appeals of actions to
suspend or revoke teaching certificates. Washington Administrative Code (WAC) 181-86-150.
OAH hearings of those appeals are governed by Chapter 34. 05 RCW, Chapter 34.12 RCW, and
Chapter 10-08 WAC.
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2. . OSP| has the burden of proof in a suspension or revocation proceeding.. WAC
- 181- 86—170(2) In such cases, OSPI “must prove: by.clear and convincing evidence that the
certificate holder is not of good moral character or persona! f|tness or has cotmmitted an act of

unprofessmnal conduct.” /d. - ST e

3. Clear and convincing evidence requires more than. a mere preponderance of the
evidence. Nguyen v. Dept. of Health, Medical Quality Assurance Comm’n, 144 Wn.2d 516, 534,
29 P.3d 689 (2001), cert. denied, 535 U.S. 904, 122 S.Ct. 1203 (2002). The evidence must
show that the ultimate fact at issue is “high!y probable " In Re Weffare of C.B., 134 Wn. App.
336, 346, 139 P 3d 119 (2006) : _ .

Standards for Revoklnq a Teachlnq Certtf cate _. N

4, RCW 28A 410 090(1)(a) authonzes OSPI to revoke a teaching certn“ cate upon the
complaint of any school district supenntendent “for immorality, violation of written contract,
unprofessmnat conduct, intemperance, or crime against.the law of the state,”. Similarly, WAC.
181-86-075(2) authorizes OSPI to revoke a teaching certificate” if the certificate holder has
committed an act of unprofessional conduct or lacks good moral character or personat fithess
and revocation is appropriate. RN

5 Acts of unprotessxonal conduct mciude thefo[towmg
Any performance of professmnal pract[ce in ﬂagrant dlsregard -or clear

- abandonment of generally recognized profess:onal standards in the course of
any of the followmg profeSS[ona] practlces Is an act of unprofessmnal conduct:

(1) Assessment treatment mstruction or supervasnon ‘of students
(2) Employment or evaluation of personnel. ' -
(3) Management of moneys or property

WAC 181-87- 060

6.  WAC 181-87-020 addresses private conduct versus professional conduct for purposes
of an act of unprotessmnal conduct: - - , -

As a general rule, the provisions of this chapter shall not be applicable to the

- private conduct of ‘an education practitioner except where the education
practitioner's role as a private person is not clearly distinguishable from the role
as an educahon practltloner and the fult[ltment of professmnal obl:gatlons

7. WAC 181- 87 040 defines “student" for purposes of an act of unprofessmnal conduct as
follows: ’ :

As used inthis chapter; the term "student" means the following:
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(1) Any student who is under the supervision, direction, or control of the
education practitioner,

(2) Any student enrolled in any school or school district served by the
' eduoatlon praotltfoner

(3) Any student enrolled in any school or school disfrict while attendlng a
‘school related activity at which the education practitioner is performing
- professional duties. :

(4) Any former student who is under eighteen years of age and who has been
under the supervision, direction, or control of the education practitioner.
Former student, for the purpose of this section, includes but is not-limited to
drop outs, graduates, and students who transfer to other districts or schools.

8. “[Glood moral character and personal fithess” means character and personal fitness
necessary to serve as a certificated employee in schools in the state of Washington, character
and personal fitness to have contact with, to teach, and to perform supervision of children.
WAC 181-86-013 (emphasis added). It includes, but is not limited to having (1) no conviction of
specific felony crimes including children;{2) no conviction of any crime within the last ten years
that would materially and substantially impair the individual's worthiness and ability to serve as a
professional withify a school; (3) no “behavior problem which endangers the educational welfare
or personal safety of students, teachers, or other colleagues within the educational settlng,” and
(4) no practice in" a professional position within the state for which certification is required
without the appropriate certification. /d. (emphasis added)

9. “Itis determined that the Ap’p'e]lant’s spooning a student on a bed and kissing students on
the lips, cheeks, and foreheads constitutes a flagrant disregard or clear abandonment of
_ generally recognlzed professmna] standards whlle superwsmg students - '

10. " Neither party exp[ams what it means for a teacher to be in the “performance of
professional practice” for purposes of identifying an act of unprofessional ‘conduct. Nor does
either party explain whether directing a play not sponsored by the District or taking a group of
students on an international choir trip not sponsored by the District constitute the performance
of professuonai practice.

11. Nor does either party exp[aln when a behavioral prob!em endangering the eduoatlonal
welfare or personal safety of students is “within the educational settlng” for purposes of good
moral character and personal fi tness IR -

12. These questions need not be decided here because spooning on a bed with a current
student and kissing a current student on the lips demonstrates a lack of good mora! character
and personal fitness, regardless of where the conduct takes place
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13. OSPI has met its burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that the Appellant
lacks good moral character and personal fithess and has engaged in acts of unprofessmnal
conduct.

Appropriate Level of Discipline

14.  The following factors must be consmlered to determine the approprlate level and range of
discipline in a dlSClpI|nary order :

(1) The seriousness of the acl'(s) and the actual or potentlal harm to persons or
property;
(2).. The persons cnmmal hrstory mclud:ng the senousness and amount of
--actlwtyr L
(3) . Theage and maturlty leVel of parhcupant(s) at the time of the actlwty,
(4) The proxrmlty or remotenéss of time in which the acts: occurred; .
(5) Any activity that demonstrates a disregard for health, safety or welfare,
(6} - Any activity that demonstrates a behavioral problem, : : :
- (7} Any actlwty that demonstrates alack of fi t"tness :
_ '(8) < Any... tior garding dlsorplme |mposed by any‘
TR governmental_ or private entrty asa résult.of acts or omissions;:s
(9) -Any-information submrtted that demonstrates aggravatlng or m|t|gat|ng
. mrcumstances, L :
(10) Any information submrtted to support charecter and f tness, and
(11) Any other relevant mformatlon submltted ' i

WAC 181 88-080

18.  Factor.One — Seriousness of the acts, and actual or potential harm to persons or
property. The Appellant's acts were serious. He flagrantly. violated personal boundaries
between teachers-and students, including by entering a female student’s hotel room in a foreign
country without her permission and spooning with her on the bed while she slept. He caused
harm to.Student 2 because she was ostracized by her peers-for-reporting his inappropriate
conduct.: He created potentlal hiarm of emotional distress to all students with whom he engaged
in mapproprlate conduct, a@s well.as potential harm to the District due to the nsk of litigation for
his conduct. This factor we|ghs against the Appellant. : Gl

16.  Factor Two — Criminal hrstory The Appellant has no cnmlnal hlstory Th:s factor weighs
in favor of the Appellant _ _ . _

17. Faotor Three — Age and matunty level oF partlc:pants The Appellant was in his thrrtles
and was an experlenced teacher at the time of the inappropriate activity. The students were
impressionable giris who respected and admired him. The Appellant had received safer
relationship training and was well aware of the risks of inappropriate relationships with students
because of the investigation of the band teacher soon before the acts in this case took place.
This factor welghts against the Appellant,
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18, Factor Four — Proximity or remoteness in time of the events. The conduct took place
over a five-year period before the Appellant's resignation. Thus, the conduct was not
sighificantly remote in time and was ongoing. This factor weighs against the Appellant.

19.  Factor Five — Disregard for health, safety, or we!fare The. Appellant acknowledgas in
his brief that kissing on the lips and spooning show a disregard for the health, safety, or we!fare
of students. Appellant's Brief at 122. This factor weighs agalnst the Appellant

20. Factor Six — Behawor problem. The Appe]lant engaged in acts that he acknowledges
are not appropriate between a student and a teacher over the course of several years, This
demonstrates a behavioral problem. This factor weights against the Appellant.

21. Factor Seven — Lack of fitness. The Appellant acknowledges that spooning or kissing on
the lips on purpose is conduct that demonstrates a lack of fitness. Appellant’s Brief at 123.

22. Factor Eight — Discipline by government or private entify. The Appellant was not
disciplined by the District.- However, because the Appellant resigned before the District
completed iis |nvest1gat|0n this factor does not weigh in favor of or against the Appellant.

23.  Factor Nine — Aggravating or mitigating cm‘cumstances No aggravating circumstances
are found. This welghs in favor of the Appellant. '

24. - Mitigating factors are that the Appellant was, by all accounts, a very talented and popular
choir teacher and musical director who builf Uup the U-High music program. -Additionally, .
numerous students and parents admired him and believed that he was a’positive influence in
the lives of many students. " Because of the nature of the wolatlons found, this we:ghs only
slightly in tHe Appellant’s favor. :

25 Factor Ten — Information in support of character and filness. Numerous parents and
students testified in support of the Appellant-and their belief that he has been a positive
influence in their lives. Gtven the nature of the v10|at10ns found thls welghs on]y shghtly in the
Appellants faver ' : .

- 286. Factor Eleven — Additional refevant evidence. As additional relevant evidence, the
Appellant identifies OSP#'s disregard of evidence favorable to the Appellant and its attempted
enforcement of vague, unwritten community standards. Because the Appellant was found to
have engaged in acts that the Appellant agrees are significant and inappropriate, these
arguments are not relevant. Additionally, the Appellant offers that, if he goes back to teaching,
he will not kiss or hug a student or hold a student’s hand. This commitment to future behavior
weighs |n the Appellant’s favor.

27. After applying the eleven factors, it is determined that revocation is appropriate,
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ORDER

The Appellant’s Washmgton State teachlng certif cate number 374935E is REVOKED.
This fi nal order takes effect upon s1gnmg

Stg hed at -Seaftl.e, Wa's’h"fng’:[on: on May 19, 2014. -

Anne Senter ]
Administrative Law Judge ..
Oﬁlce of Admlnlstratlve Hearmgs )

. This is a final agency decision subject to a petition for reconsideration filed within ten
days of service pursuant to RCW 34.05.470. 'Such a petition must be fited with the ALJ at the
address at OAH." The petition will be considered and disposed of by the ALJ. A copy of the
petition must be served on: each parly to the ‘proceeding. . The filing of .a petition for
reconsideration is not required before seeking judicial review. S

© Pursuant to Chapter 34.05.542 RCW, this matter may be further appealed to a court of
law. The Petition for Judicial Review of this decision must be filed with the court and served on
OSPI, the Office of the Attomey General, alk parties of record, and OAH within thirty days after
service of the final order. If a petition for reconsideration is filed, this thirty-day period will begin
to run upon the disposition of the petition for reconsideration pursuant to RCW 34.05.470(3).
Otherwise, the thirty-day time limit for filing a petltlon for jUdIClal review commences with the
date cf the malling of thls dec:sson S RN : R

In accordance W|th WAC 181 -86- 150(3) the demsxon cf the ALJ shail be sent by certified
mail to the Appellant's last known address and if the decision is to reprimand, suspend, or
revoke, the Appellant shall be notlfled that such order takes effect upon signing of the final
order. . _
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that | mailed a copy of this order to the within-named interested parties at their
respective addresses postage prepaid on the date stated herein, ﬂ/%/

-Russell Seaton Catherine Slagle, D|rector OPP, OSPI
c/o Kevan T. Montoya, Attorney at Law PO Box 47200

Montoya Hinckiey PLLC : Olympia, WA 98504-7200

4702 A Tieton Dr via US Mail

Yakima, WA 98908
via US Mail and Certified Mail

Aileen B. Miller, Assistant Attorney General
PO Box 40100 .
Olympia, W A98504-0100

via US Maif

cC: Administrative Resource Services, OSP|
Matthew D. Wacker, Semor ALJ, OAH/OSPI Caseload Coordmator
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